# RECEIVED

JUL 1 0 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 94722-8 COA No. 75438-6-1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE: THE MARRIAGE OF D. BRUCE STOKSTAD, Appellant,

And

LUCY STOKSTAD, (aka Lucy Spier or Lucy Zellweger) Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrekita Silva
Law Office of F. Andrekita Silva
1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, Washington 98101
206-224-8288
ak@seattle-silvalaw.com
Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant

CSUPTOF ALE POUT 18

### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Bruce Stokstad, the appellant below is the custodial parent or receiving parent identified in the relevant Order of Child Support. He asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner, Bruce Stokstad (hereafter referred to as Bruce), seeks review of the Court of Appeals Decision entered on June 5, 2017, affirming the trial court's order. The trial court granted a Motion Regarding Judgment Liens filed by Lucy Stokstad (hereafter referred to as Lucy), the obligor parent on February 5, 2016.

Amongst the significant relief granted, the trial court enforced a retroactive determination or Notice of Credit issued by the Division of Child Support (hereafter referred to as DCS) on January 23, 2015 to Lucy against her support arrears in the amount of \$16,225.00. That determination reversed a final decision or Notice of Credit issued three (3) years prior on February 6, 2012 which gave Lucy credit for only \$649.00. DCS brought no motion to vacate its February 6, 2012 decision, and Bruce had no notice of or opportunity to be heard prior to its February 6, 2012 decision or prior to a Conference Board Decision dated February 23, 2015 which the trial court found to be binding on Bruce as he did not appeal it within 30 days.

#### III. INTRODUCTION<sup>1</sup>

When an adult child (a child age 18 or over) receives a lump sum benefit from the Social Security Administration based on the disability of an obligor parent, the Social Security Administration (hereafter referred to as SSA) requires the adult child to personally appear before the SSA to sign for and receive a check made out in the name of the adult child.

The SSA advises the adult child that no one but the adult child himself has an interest in those funds. Here, that is exactly what occurred in January of 2012. In our case, in addition to representations by the SSA, the Division of Child Support (hereafter referred to as DCS) assured the receiving parent in a written decision, in person, then in a follow up writing that 1) neither parent had an interest in the SSA payment of \$16,225.00 made directly to the adult child and 2) that the obligor parent would not receive a credit for that payment.

However, 3 years after its Final and binding decision, DCS decided it made an error. Then summarily, without giving notice of an intent to vacate its prior decision, and without notice or an opportunity to be heard, it gave the obligor parent a retroactive credit of \$16,225.00. Unfortunately, by then, the adult child had already spent the \$16,225.00 to meet college expenses not covered by the college support order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All facts set forth in the Introduction are cited to the Clerk's Papers in either the Brief of Appellant dated November 28, 2016 or Reply Brief of Appellant dated March 14, 2017.

The receiving parent, Bruce Stokstad (hereafter referred to as Bruce), had no recourse to avoid harm if the retroactive credit was permitted. Bruce could not go back and retroactively seek a child support modification based on involuntary debt and expenses resulting from a waiver of the obligor's support obligation to him. Bruce could not avoid harm by requiring the adult child to reduce expenses due to a waiver of support arrears owed to him. And, he could not go back in time and ask the adult child to cooperate with turning the funds over to him so that he could reimburse himself for past child rearing expenses on which the obligor parent had defaulted.

A custodial parent, is entitled to count on the monthly sum certain ordered by the court to be paid to them by the obligor parent. The custodial parent is entitled to rely on the unambiguous actions and representations of the SSA when they are told that no one but the adult child has an interest in a lump sum benefit paid to an adult child. Finally, the custodial parent is entitled to count on a Final and binding decision by the Department of Child Support which determines that the obligor parent will not receive a credit against their arrears.

Here, the Superior Court erroneously found that Bruce had 30 days to appeal the findings of the Administrative Law Judge (that a Conference Board Decision is binding and that a litigant has 30 days to appeal that Conference Board decision) and since he failed to do so, he was bound by that ruling.

Based on its erroneous ruling that a Conference Board Decision is binding, the Superior Court permitted inclusion of a credit to Lucy for a payment of \$16,225.00 in its order to satisfy judgment liens, and it found Bruce's objection to that credit to lack merit.

Due to the Superior Court's erroneous ruling regarding the binding nature of a Conference Board Decision, it found Bruce transformed a simple Motion to pay off old judgments in which he would receive a considerable sum into major litigation. It accepted Lucy's summary conclusions about what judgments and / or accrued interest was owed, and ordered Bruce to pay her legal fees.

WAC 388-14A-6400(1) is crystal clear that a Conference Board is an informal proceeding. Bruce's objection to the credit did not lack merit and it is offensive and groundless for the Superior Court to expect Bruce to waive child support arrears of \$16,225.00 plus accrued interest simply because the other outstanding judgments Lucy was promising to pay were significant.

The Superior Court lost sight that it was not Bruce who turned this case into "major litigation". Had Lucy simply used her resources to timely pay her child support obligation, there would have been no outstanding judgments and neither party would have incurred litigation costs.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did DCS lack jurisdiction and/ or authority to issue a new decision and/ or retroactive credit on January 23, 2015, which vacated or modifying an earlier Final decision or Notice of Credit dated February 6,

2012, without securing an Order to Show Cause and without providing notice and an opportunity to be heard as required by WAC 388-14A-3700 and CR 60(b), and without a ruling on its Order to Show Cause to Vacate, and absent those due process procedures, is that January 23, 2015 decision void, as well as any order that flows from that void decision?

- 2. Should the Supreme Court determine whether a lump sum benefit payment made directly to an adult child in the name of the adult child by the SSA on the basis of the obligor parent's disability, be credited against the obligor parent's support arrears and if so, under what circumstances? To make that determination, the court should consider and determine the following:
- a. Is a credit to the support arrears of an obligor parent for lump sum benefits paid directly by the SSA to an adult child (based on the obligor parents disability) pursuant to RCW 26.18.190(2) which are not received by the receiving or custodial parent the equivalent of a reimbursement of compensation which is prohibited by RCW 26.18.190(4)?
- b. Does a credit to the support arrears of an obligor parent for lump sum benefits paid directly by the SSA to an adult child (based on the obligor parents disability) violate federal law and conflict with the policy and practice of SSA officers whereby they advise the adult child that they, and they alone, have an interest in the lump sum payment made directly to them?
- c. Does a credit to the support arrears of an obligor parent for a lump sum benefit paid directly by the SSA to an adult child, particularly where there is undisputed evidence that the receiving parent does not receive the funds, amount to an impermissible retroactive modification of the Order of Child Support?
- d. Is there any legitimate state interest or policy served by crediting the lump sum SSA payment made directly to an adult child to the support arrears of the disabled obligor parent, where the custodial parent has already advanced and incurred all financial costs to provide for the child's living expenses, health, and education with the curt ordered contribution of the obligor parent?
- e. If the court determines that an obligor parent may receive credit to outstanding support arrears for a lump sum benefit paid directly to an adult child by the SSA on the basis of the obligor parent's disability, should the court be required to harmonize RCW 26.18.190(2) and WAC 388-14A-4200(2) with RCW 26.23.050(6), RCW 74.20.101(2) and RCW

74.20.101(3), and the current Order of Child Support without making a finding on the record that

- the rights of the residential parent entitled to receive the child support payment will not be prejudiced per RCW 74.20.101(2)(a) and
- 2) that per RCW 74.20.101(2)(b) the receiving parent received notice and an opportunity to be heard and that the obligor parent should receive a credit based on equitable principles?
- f. If the court determines that an obligor parent may receive credit to outstanding support arrears for a lump sum benefit paid directly to an adult child by the SSA on the basis of the obligor parent's disability, before the court determines the credits to be applied in order to avoid violating federal law, is the obligor parent required to provide calculations and evidence to ensure SSA funds were not used for an obligation prior to the benefit period, in an amount in excess of any one benefit period, and that overpayments are not applied to future obligations?
- 3. Does the court have jurisdiction and/ or authority grant relief modifying and/ or vacate a money judgment where that relief has already been denied twice by the court, and the judgment was already extinguished by a prior garnishment four years prior? And prior to hearing that request is an order to show cause pursuant to CR 60 (e) required?
- 4. Can the court make a determination regarding sums owed and sums satisfied without calculations verifying that the obligor paid the mandatory post judgment interest, and that payments for child support are allocated first to current obligations, then to the oldest unexpired obligation and interest thereon as required by Washington law?
- 5. Can the court award legal fees to the obligor parent where they secured relief in the form of a credit for \$16,225.00 where the determination on which they relief was made in violation of Bruce's due process rights as set forth in the constitution, in violation of civil rules, and RCW 74.20.101(2)(b) which prohibits credit to an obligor parent for payments not made through the support registry unless there is first notice and an opportunity to be heard, and the court orders the credit to be applied on the basis of equitable principles.

#### V. STATEMENT REGARDING DISPUTED DCS DETERMINATION<sup>2</sup>

In January of 2012, Woodrow, the parties' adult child, received a check written in his name and delivered directly to him in the amount of \$16,225.00. Simultaneously, Lucy Stokstad, (obligor parent hereafter referred to as Lucy) received her own lump sum disability award and of that, \$16,225.00 was garnished and deposited into the bank account for Bruce Stokstad (custodial receiving parent hereafter referred to as Bruce).

On February 6, 2012, the Division of Child Support issued a Notice advising that Lucy was given credit of only \$16,225.00. On February 13, 2012, Support Officer J. Jonson verified that no one but Woodrow had an interest in the funds paid to Woodrow directly by the SSA. Notwithstanding, DCS clarified that of the \$16,225.00 paid to Woodrow, Lucy would receive a credit of \$649.00, even though Bruce did not actually receive the sum of \$649.00.

The next day, on February 14, 2012, J. Jonson of DCS sent a

Debt Calculation and a Case Payment History to Bruce. The Debt

Calculation demonstrated the application of a \$16,225.00 credit to Lucy
on February 6, 2012 for funds deposited to Bruce's bank account.

Additionally, it verified a credit to Lucy of \$649.00 in July 2011 from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Due to time limitations, citations to the Clerk's Papers and additional facts may be found in Bruce's Brief of Appellant dated November 28, 2016 and Reply Brief of Appellant dated March 14, 2017.

\$16,225.00 in SSA funds paid directly to Woodrow.

At page 2 of the Debt Calculation, J. Jonson made a handwritten note by the \$649.00 July 2011 credit "from \$16,225.00". At page 3 of the Debt Calculation, J. Jonson placed the hand written notation stating "16,225 only 649 was credited as the rest was in a judgment period".

#### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), review of the Court of Appeals decision should be accepted on three separate bases.

First, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Namely, the issue is whether a lump sum benefit payment made directly to an adult child in the name of an adult child by the Social Security Administration on the basis of an obligor parent's disability, can be credited against the obligor parent's support arrears.

Where a lump sum benefit payment is made to an adult child, the Social Security Administration has a policy of on ambiguously notifying the adult child that they and they alone have an interest in the benefit payment, and to ensure the adult child receives the payment, they require the adult child to appear in person to receive and sign receipt for the payment.

There is no Washington case that addresses this issue. Although trial court found that Fairchild [sic] applied, and the Court of Appeals

agreed that In Re Parentage of Fairbanks, 142 Wn. App. 950, 176 P. 3d 611(2008) found that a parent is entitled to child support credit for lump sum Social Security Disability benefits paid, and likewise, In Re Marriage of Briscoe, 134 Wn. 2d 344, 949 P. 2d 1388(1988). The court of appeals noted that Bruce pointed in nothing in the court's analysis to support his claim that Fairbanks does not involve an SSA payment to an adult child or for an amount in arrears.

However, that is not true. Bruce set forth the relevant case facts in a footnote at page 47 of his Brief of Appellant dated November 28, 2016 from which his assertion is easily deduced. The Fairbanks court noted that the father was current on his child support obligation and gave the father a retroactive credit for the lump sum payment, father received a credit for future child support on the basis of his payments made with non- benefits. Had future support been for the post secondary educational support for an adult child, the court would have said so.

Regardless, it is unreasonable to require Bruce to PROVE that the lump sum disability benefit payment was not for an adult child. The point is that the public, in particular a receiving parent, is entitled to clarification and determination by the Supreme Court on this issue. They are entitled to know whether they can rely on a representation by the Social Security Administration that no one but the adult child has an interest in the payment made directly to the adult child, or whether the receiving parent must live with uncertainty, not knowing whether there are

steps they must take to protect the right to child support contained in their Order of Child Support, and if so, what on earth those steps would be.

Presently Washington statutes present the opportunity for conflicting decisions and for a deprivation of property to a receiving parent if Washington statutes RCW 26.18.190(2) and WAC 388-14A-4200(2) are not harmonized with RCW 26.23.050(6), RCW 74.20.101(2) and RCW 74.20.101(3), and the mandatory language in all Orders of Child Support that prohibit a credit to a parent if the payment does not go through the Support Registry.

In our case, both the trial court and the court of appeals RCW 26.18 .190 (2) mandates that the court offset from the parents child support obligation any Social Security disability payments to a child on that parent's behalf. It referred to WAC 388-14A-4200(2) which has language that mirrors that statute. However, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals were silent about the need to harmonize conflicting Washington statutes and Federal Law.

RCW 16.18.190(2) must be read in light of RCW 26.18.190(4)

RCW 26.18.190(4) states:

Under no circumstances shall the person who has the obligation to make the transfer payment have a right to reimbursement of any compensation paid under subsection (1), (2), or (3) of this section.

If the receiving parent does not receive one penny of a lump sum disability payment because the Social Security Administration made the

payment directly to the adult child and advised the adult child that only he and he alone had an interest in those funds, and the receiving parent does not receive one penny of that lump sum payment to the child, then the credit to the obligor parent against the obligor parents child support arrears is an indirect reimbursement of the compensation paid to the adult child. Here, since Lucy received a credit of \$16,225 against her support arrears, at Bruce's expense, she is enriched in the amount of \$16,226.00.

Federal law prohibits SSA funds to discharge Lucy's debt and makes payments directly to an adult child to ensure that the payment is used exclusively for the benefit of the adult child.

Every dependent child of an individual who is entitled to Social Security benefits shall be entitled to a child's insurance benefit, 20 CFR 404.350, 42 USC 402(d). Payments are made to a representative payee where a beneficiary is under the age of 18, 20 CRF 404.2010(2)(b). A representative must use the payments only for the benefit of the beneficiary, CFR 404.2035(a). Benefits are deemed to be used for the use and benefit of a beneficiary where the benefits are used for a beneficiaries current maintenance, CFR 404.2040(a).

A representative payee who misuses a beneficiaries benefits is responsible for paying back misused benefits, 20 CFR §404.2041(a). Where an application is made to receive a payment for the use and benefit of another, and having received such a payment, knowingly and willfully converts such a payment, or any part thereof, to use other than

for the use and benefit of such other person, is guilty of a felony, 42 U.S.C. §(a)(5), 42 U.S.C. §(a)(9).

Washington law is consistent with federal law. Washington law entitles Lucy to credit for SSDI dependency benefits paid on behalf of a child toward the satisfaction of her child support obligation *for that* period for which benefits are paid (emphasis added). WAC 388-14A-4200 (2), RCW 26.18.190 (2), Parentage of Fairbanks, 142 Wn. App. 950, 176 P. 3d 611(2008).

Where there is a conflict between federal law and state policy, the state policy must give way under the Supremacy Clause, <u>Snider v.</u>

<u>Creasy</u>, 728 F.2d 369 (6th Cir.1984). Preemption will be found when there is an actual conflict between federal and state law where (1) compliance with both the federal and state law is physically impossible, or (2) the state law is an "obstacle" to the "full purposes and objectives of Congress, <u>Department of Labor & Indus. v. Brugh 135 Wn. App. 808, 147 P.3d 588 (2006)</u>.

Woodrow, received a lump sum payment directly from SSA after turning 18 years old. It's sole authorized use was for his *current* maintenance, meaning Woodrow's current food, shelter, clothing, medical care and personal comfort items, 20 CFR § 404.2040(a).

It is a violation of federal law for either Lucy or DCS to satisfy
Lucy's debt for child support arrears and/ or accrued interest on those
arrears with Woodrow's money. Payments may be used only for the

benefit of the beneficiary, during the benefit period. Unless Lucy actually made a payment during the benefit period, then she is not entitled to a retroactive credit. If a monthly benefit exceeded Lucy's monthly obligation for that period, she is also not entitled to any reimbursement. Overpayments are a gift so excess benefits may not be applied to future payments.

A credit to the support arrears of an obligor parent for a lump sum benefit paid directly by the SSA to an adult child, is an impermissible retroactive modification of the Order of Child Support.

The court entered an Order of Child Support determining each parent's obligation for the support of the child. If the court gives the obligor parent credit, where as here, the receiving parent never receives a penny but has already incurred the financial expenses of meeting his own expenses as well as the unpaid contributions of the obligor parent, a credit to the obligor parent denies the receiving parent of their right to the sum certain ordered in the Order of Child Support. That credit is an impermissible retroactive modification.

No legitimate state interest or policy served by crediting the lump sum SSA payment made directly to an adult child to the support arrears of the disabled obligor parent.

The Division One appellate court case, In Re Marriage of Hughes, 69 Wn. App. 778, 782 P.2d 555 (1993), which was cited in Lucy's own brief, Resp. Br. 13, surveyed and cited out-of-state case law in its footnote 12, at p.783.

The court should look to the rational of <u>Mask v. Mask</u>, 95 N.M. 229, 620 P. 2d 883 (1980) and <u>Andler v. Andler</u>, 217 Kan. 538, 538 P. 2d 649 (1975) cited by the Washington court.

In <u>Mask v. Mask</u><sup>3</sup>, 620 P. 2d 883, 95 N.M. 229 (1980), arrears existed prior to the award of benefits and the Social Security payments also exceeded the obligor parents monthly child support obligation. Citing <u>Andler v. Andler</u><sup>4</sup>, 217 Kan. 539, 538 P.2d 649, 654 (1975), the <u>Mask</u> court found that the obligor could receive a credit against his support obligation, but only up to the amount of that obligation (\$50.00), for each month after the child began receiving the benefits.

The Mask court stated,

"Federal regulations prohibit the custodial parent from recovering support arrears out of social security payments. This should apply equally to the non-custodial parent who seeks to satisfy his support obligation by way of social security payments made directly from the social security administration to the child. These funds are the child's and not the noncustodial parent's, and cannot be used to meet his obligations... "

In <u>Andler</u>, found that benefit amount paid in excess of a parents monthly support obligation are a gratuity to the children. The <u>Mask</u> court further cited to the Missouri case of <u>McClaskey v. McClaskey<sup>5</sup></u>, 543 S.W.2d 832 (Mo. App. 1976), when ruling that it would allow only credits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The facts of <u>Mask</u> are set forth at are set forth in a footnote at pages 16 &17 of the Reply Brief of Appellant dated March 14, 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The facts of <u>Andler</u> are set forth in a footnote at pages 17 &18 of the Reply Brief of Appellant dated March 14, 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The facts of McClaskey are set forth in a footnote at page 18 of the Reply Brief of Appellant dated March 14, 2017.

against support payments falling due after the social security payments had begun and that amounts in excess of the court ordered amount were gratuitous.

When speaking of "carry-back credit" or credit for amounts that accrued prior to the payment of benefits, the Mask court cited <u>McClaskey</u> at 883-884 stating:

To grant such a "carry-back" credit would be violative of both federal law and the principles of equity.... To allow such credits would be to encourage fathers to put off making their support payments in the hope that some future collateral source would satisfy their arrearages.

In addition to its discussion regarding the violation of federal law, the Mask court additionally addressed equitable principles. It stated:

If we were to allow such credits, the defendant would receive a windfall, since delinquent support payments would be made with the funds of the social security administration and not with his own. If we disallow the credits, the daughter will receive the benefit of the extra payments since she will receive not only the support arrearages but also the monthly social security check. As between the two parties, we feel, as did the Missouri court in McClaskey, supra, 543 S.W., that "when the windfall comes, equitably, it should not inure to the defaulting husband's benefit, but to his bereft children."

The second reason equity requires that the credits not be allowed is that the child's need is current, and must be met monthly, not sometime in the future. Again, as stated in McClaskey, "a child's needs for food, clothing, lodging and other necessary expenses is current- today, this week, this month- and the expectation of a future payment does not meet these needs." Id. at 835.

In addition to the above courts, the Connecticut court has dealt squarely with the issue of credit for lump sum Social Security benefits received by an adult child after the age of 18.

In <u>Tarbox v. Tarbox</u><sup>6</sup>, 853 A. 2d 614, 84 Conn. App. 403 (2004) the court ruled that the disabled obligor parent was not entitled to credit against arrears where a child receives a lump sum payment for back social security disability benefits once they have already turned 18. In the absence of a published Connecticut case, the <u>Tarbox</u> court looked to the Michigan case <u>Jenerou v. Jenerou</u>, 200 Mich.App. 265, 503 N.W.2d 744 (1993). It quoted <u>Jenerou</u> as stating:

"however, the defendant [was] entitled to no credit, because the benefits were not paid to plaintiff, but directly to the daughter, who by then had reached the age of majority." <u>Jenerou</u> supra, 200 Mich.App. at 267, 503 N.W.2d 744. "The child does not receive the benefits because the federal government has decided to assume the parent's obligation to support the child, but only because the child is determined to be eligible for the benefits under federal law." <u>Jenerou</u>, id., at 267-68, 503 N.W.2d 744. The Tarbox court also appeared to deny credit for four SSDI

payments paid directly to the child after the child had turned 18 but prior to finishing high school even though for the SSDI payments were for the current period.

In <u>Jenerou v. Jenerou</u>, 200 Mich.App. 265, 503 N.W.2d 744 (1993), the Michigan court acknowledged its obligation to credit a disabled parent for SSDI benefits paid to an obligee custodial parent for the benefit of a minor child. However, it denied the credit because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In Tarbox, the parties divorced in 1995. The father was ordered to pay \$126.50 per week in child support until the children turned 18 or graduated from high school, whichever occurred later. The younger child turned 18 in October 2000, and finished high school in June 2001. In February 2001, the younger child received a lump sum payment

benefits were not paid to the obligee parent for a minor child, but paid directly to the daughter, who by then had reached the age of majority.

RCW 26.18.190(2) and WAC 388-14A-4200(2) must be harmonized with RCW 26.23.050(6), RCW 74.20.101(2) and RCW 74.20.101(3), and the current Order of Child Support,

RCW 26.23.050(6) prohibits a credit to the obligor parent without making a finding on the record that

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