FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/4/2017 4:31 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94722-8 COA No. 75438-6-1.

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Lucy Stokstad, Respondent

٧.

Bruce Stokstad, Appellant

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marya M. Santor SANTOR LAW FIRM 19125 North Creek Pkwy, Suite 120 Bothell, WA 98011 Tel. 425-329-2647 Fax. 425-491-7110 Attorney for Respondent

#

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

#### E. Argument Regarding Whether Review Should Be Accepted

1. The issue of whether or not a lump sum benefit payment made directly to an adult child by Social Security (on the basis of an obligor parent's disability) can be credited against the obligor parent's support arrears is not an issue of substantial public interest, but an issue that has already been fully resolved by statute and case law.

The Court in <u>In re Parentage of Fairbanks</u> addressed this very issue.

RCW 26.18.190 addresses the effect of benefits paid by the Social Security Administration on behalf of a child. RCW 26.18.190(2) specifically provides that when Social Security

benefit payments are made on behalf of the child of a disabled person, that amount is treated for all purposes as if the disabled person had paid the benefits toward the satisfaction of that person's child support obligation for the period for which the benefits were paid.

"The statute is unambiguous: Disability benefits paid directly to the children are in partial satisfaction of the disabled parent's support obligation." <u>In reMarriage of Briscoe</u>, 134 Wash.2d 344, 348, 949 P.2d 1388 (1998) (citing <u>In reMarriage of Hughes</u>, 69 Wash.App. 778, 782, 850 P.2d 555 (1993)). Under the mandatory language of the statute, courts must allow the offset. <u>In re Marriage of Dicus</u>, 110 Wash.App. 347, 353, 40 P.3d 1185 (2002).

<u>In re Parentage of Fairbanks</u>, 142 Wash. App. 950, 956, 176 P.3d 611, 614 (2008)

There is nothing in the statute or the case law which would support the conclusion that the fact the payment was made directly to the child (as he had turned 18 when the lump sum payment was made) would change the intent of the statute or the court ruling.

Bruce Stokstad argues that credit for the lump sum payment should be denied because RCW 16.18.190(4) conflicts with RCW 16.18.190(2). RCW 16.18.190(4) stands for the proposition that Lucy Stokstad would not be entitled to reimbursement from Bruce Stokstad, if the funds paid by Social Security were in excess of her support obligation. The funds were not in excess of her support obligation and RCW 16.18.190(4) does not conflict with the RCW 16.18.190(2) or relevant case law.

Bruce Stokstad further argues that Lucy Stokstad should not receive the credit because the credit must be used for the period for which benefits are paid. The lump sum payment to the child was for payments over the course of a two year period from June 2009 through June 2011. This is not in contention as Bruce Stokstad submitted this information. CP 306 (also see CP 258) Nor is it in contention that the back support at issue included this time period, (1) back child support in the amount of \$14,928.08 for the period of May 1, 2009 through June 30, 2011, (2) back medical support in the amount of \$4,276.72 for the period of October 22, 2007 through May 31, 2011, (3) back additional support in the amount of \$4,211.88 for the period of August 25, 2007 through June 30, 2011. CP 28-42 Nor does it appear to be in contention that more was owed in back support for the relevant time period than was paid to the child from Social Security. Although the August 19, 2011 order does not break out the monthly amount owed for the relevant time periods, it seems clear from the figures that the amount owed for the relevant time period was in excess of the \$16,225.00 payment to the child and Bruce Stokstad has produced no evidence to the contrary.

Bruce cites a number of out of state cases to support his contention that the credit should not be allowed. "None of the cases he cites address provisions analogous to Washington statutes and regulations."

In re Marriage of Stokstad, 75438-6-I (Unpublished Opinion, Div. 1 2017) It should also be noted that the cases cited by Bruce Stokstad represent the position of the minority of jurisdictions. <u>Louko v. McDonald</u>, 189 Vt. 426, 22 A.3d 433, 2011 VT 33, (2011) The majority of jurisdiction that have addressed these issues have found the a credit is appropriate. Id.

Bruce Stokstad further argues that the credit should be denied because the Division of Child Support failed to provide notice and an opportunity to be heard. RCW 74.20.101(3) provides

The rights of the payee under an order for support shall not be prejudiced if the department grants credit under subsection (2)(a) of this section. If the department determines that credit should be granted pursuant to subsection (2) of this section, the department shall mail notice of its decision to the last known address of the payee, together with information about the procedure to contest the determination.

The Division of Child Support did this. See CP 258-259. Bruce Stokstad clearly received these documents as he filed them with the Court. He also had benefit of counsel regarding these documents as he sent them to his attorney on February 11, 2012. See fax cover sheet at CP 257. He cannot now claim he didn't receive notice.

2. The Petition for Review as it relates to a Conference Board

Decision should be denied as both Court of Appeals decisions in question are unpublished opinions.

RAP 13.4 states Petition for Review will only be accepted: ..."If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals...." Both of the decisions in question are unpublished opinions. The issue of whether or not a Conference Board Decision is binding is not an issue in conflict.

Additionally, it is Lucy Stokstad's position that the rulings are not in conflict. The Appeals Court in our case specifically stated that it was not addressing the issue.

In a related contention, Bruce claims the superior court erred when it "impliedly" found that he was bound by the Conference Board decision when he failed to seek review of the subsequent ALJ decision. Because Bruce fails to demonstrate that the superior court erred in applying the credit based on Washington law, we need not address any alternative bases for the court's decision.

<u>In re Marriage of Stokstad</u>, 75438-6-I (Unpublished Opinion, Div. 1 2017)

3. The issuance of the Notice of Credit on January 23, 2015 without first seeking a show cause order does not give rise to grounds to support a Petition for Review.

The basis of Bruce Stokstad's argument in this matter is unclear, however he has offer no support for his contention that CR 60(e) would apply to a determination of the Division of Child Support in this matter or the issuance of a Notice of Credit.

4. A finding that an attorney cannot double bill for the same attorney's fees does not give rise to grounds to support a Petition for Review.

Bruce Stokstad argues that Lucy is attempting to relitigate an issue. This is not true. During the underlying case the Court issued two interim attorney's fees award judgments related to specific matters. At the conclusion of the case, the Court issued an attorney's fees award that included the entire amount of attorney's fees owed in the case, which encompassed the earlier attorney's fees' awards/judgments. The Court Commissioner and the Trial Judge found the early attorney's fees judgments were superseded by the later judgment. This finding is supported by the fact the fees bill in the early judgments were also billed in the later judgment. The Court's of Appeal's found:

...Bruce does not dispute that the 2011 judgment included an attorney fee award for the identical services included in the 2009 and 2010 judgments. Bruce makes no showing that he was entitled to be paid twice for the same services. The court did not err in removing the two earlier judgment liens.

<u>In re Marriage of Stokstad</u>, 75438-6-I (Unpublished Opinion, Div. 1 2017)

Bruce Stokstad still has made no showing that the removal of the earlier judgments was improper.

5. The Court of Appeal's denial of an award of attorney's fees to Lucy Stokstad on appeal does gives rise to grounds to grant a Petition for Review under RAP 13.4 and such fees should be award.

The court "may consider whether additional legal fees were caused by one party's intransigence and award attorney fees on that basis." In re Marriage of Stokstad, 75438-6-I (Unpulbished Opinion, Div. 1 2017) citing In re Marriage of Greenlee, 65 Wn. App. 703, 708, 829 P.2d 1120 (1992). "Determining intransigence is necessarily factual, but may involve foot-dragging, obstructing, filing unnecessary or frivolous motions, refusing to cooperate with the opposing party, noncompliance with discovery requests, and any other conduct that makes the proceeding unduly difficult or costly." In re Marriage of Wixom, 190 Wn.App. at 725 citing In re Marriage of Greenlee, 65 Wn.App. 703, 708, 829 P.2d 1120 (1992).

#### The Court of Appeals found:

As the court aptly commented, counsel's actions permeated the proceeding-"On a global level, [Bruce's attorney] has transformed a simple Motion to pay off old judgments in which [Bruce] would receive a considerable sum into major litigation." Substantial evidence supports the court's findings. The court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorney fees for intransigence.

<u>In re Marriage of Stokstad</u>, 75438-6-I (Unpublished Opinion, Div. 1 2017)

The appeal to the Court of Appeals and the present Petition for Review is just a continuance of Bruce Stokstad and his counsel's intransigence and has greatly increased the difficulty and costs associated with a simple matter. Failing to award attorney's fees for such conduct goes against the findings in Matter of Marriage of Greenlee 65 Wn.App. 703, 829 P.2d 1120 (Div. 1 1992) and does nothing to discourage this type of behavior in the future. Attorney's fees should be awarded to Lucy Stokstad for both the need to respond to the original appeal as well as the Petition for Review pursuant to RAP 18.9 (a), Matter of Marriage of Greenlee, 65 Wn.App. 703, 829 P.2d 1120 (Div. 1 1992), and RCW 26.18.160<sup>2</sup>.

#### F. Conclusion

Lucy Stokstad respectfully requests that Bruce Stokstad's Petition for Review be denied and that her Petition for Review be granted and the Court find that she should be awarded attorney's fees. Bruce Stokstad has acted in bad faith throughout the litigation to resolve the issue of the liens on Lucy Stokstad's property. This bad faith has continued with the filing of the present frivolous Petition for Review. Attorney's fees should be awarded to Lucy Stokstad together with costs pursuant to RAP 14.2.